IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CC-00076

MISSISSIPPI WINDSTORM UNDERWRITING ASSOCIATION

APPELLANT

VERSUS

UNITED STATES FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, ET AL.

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HINDS COUNTY FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT MISSISSIPPI WINDSTORM UNDERWRITING ASSOCIATION

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

SUBMITTED BY:

CHARLES G. COPELAND (MSB REBECCA BLUNDEN (MSB JANET G. ARNOLD (MSB Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush, P.A. Post Office Box 6020 Ridgeland, MS 39158 Telephone: (601) 856-7200 Facsimile: (601) 856-7626 Counsel for Appellant, Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CC-00076

MISSISSIPPI WINDSTORM UNDERWRITING ASSOCIATION

APPELLANT

VERSUS

UNITED STATES FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, ET AL.

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons and entities have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Honorable Mike Chaney, Commissioner of Insurance, State of Mississippi;
- 2. Honorable George Dale, former Commissioner of Insurance, State of Mississippi;
- 3. Hon. J. Dewayne Thomas, Chancellor;
- 4. Department of Insurance, State of Mississippi;
- Stephanie Ganucheau, Special Assistant Attorney General, Counsel for the Mississippi Department of Insurance;
- 6. Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association, Appellant;
- Charles G. Copeland, Rebecca Blunden, Janet G. Arnold, and Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush, P.A., attorneys for Respondent;
- 8. Union National Fire Insurance Company, an Appellee;

- 9. Arthur F. Jernigan, Samuel L. Anderson, and Harris Jernigan & Geno, PLLC, attorneys for Union National Fire Insurance Company;
- United States Fire Insurance Company, a subsidiary of Crum & Forster Holding, Inc., an Appellee;
- Robert B. House, Janet D. McMurtray, and Watkins Ludlan Winter & Stennis, P.A., attorneys for United States Fire Insurance Company and for OneBeacon Insurance Company;
- 12. Aegis Security Insurance Company, an Appellee;
- David A.Norris and McGlinchey Stafford, PLLC, attorney for Aegis Security Insurance Company;
- James Golden and Hamburg & Golden, P.C., attorney for Aegis Security Insurance Company;
- 15. Farmers Insurance Group of Companies, an Appellee;
- Jennifer R. Warden and Middleberg Riddle & Gianna, attorney for Farmers Insurance Group;
- 17. Homesite Insurance Company, an Appellee;
- Marshall S. Ney, Anton Janik, Jr., and Mitchell, Williams, Selig, Gates & Woodyard,
 PLLC, attorneys for Homesite Insurance Company;
- James W. Shelson and Phelps Dunbar, LLP, attorney for Homesite Insurance Company;
- 20. OneBeacon Insurance Group, an Appellee;
- 21. RLI Insurance Company, an Appellee;
- 22. Eric F. Hatten, Forrest Latta, and Burr & Forman, LLP, attorneys for RLI Insurance

Company;

- 23. Zurich American Insurance Company, an Appellee;
- 24. Ross F. Bass, Jr., Luther T. Munford, and Phelps Dunbar LLP, attorneys for Zurich American Insurance Company;
- 25. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Company, Hartford Casualty Insurance Company, Hartford Fire Insurance Company, and Hartford Insurance Company of the Midwest, Appellants;
- 26. Jeffrey S. Dilley and Henke-Bufkin, attorney for the Hartford Appellants;
- 27. Allstate Insurance Company, an Appellee;
- 28. Michael B. Wallace and Wise, Carter, Child & Carraway, attorney for Allstate Insurance Company;
- 29. Acadia Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 30. Ace USA Companies, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Affiliated FM Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Alfa General Insurance Corporation, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Alfa Insurance Corporation, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Allianz Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 35. Allstate Insurance Group, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 36. American Alternative Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated

appeals;

- 37. American Bankers Insurance Co. of Florida, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- American Central Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- American Employers' Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- American Equity Specialty Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 41. American Family Home Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 42. American General Property Insurance Group, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 43. American Guarantee & Liability Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 44. American International Group, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 45. American International Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 46. American Modern Home Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- American National General Insurance Co., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;

- American National Property & Casualty Co., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 49. American Reliable Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- American Resources Insurance Co. Inc., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- American Safety Casualty Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 52. American Security Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- American States Insurance Companies, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 54. American Summit Insurance Co., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 55. American Zurich Insurance Company
- 56. Amerisure Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Amerisure Mutual Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Amex Assurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 59. Amica Mutual Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;

- 60. Argonaut Great Central Insurance Co., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Armed Forces Insurance Exchange, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 62. Associates Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 63. Association Casualty Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 64. Assurance Company of America, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 65. Atlantic Mutual Insurance Companies, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 66. Atlantic Specialty Insurance Companies, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 67. Audubon Insurance Group, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Auto Club Family Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 69. AXA Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- AXA Re America Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 71. AXA Re Property & Casualty Insurance Co, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 72. AXA Corporate Solutions Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi

Windstorm Underwriting Association;

- Balboa Insurance Companies, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 74. BancInsure, Incorporated, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 75. Benchmark Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Bituminous Insurance Companies, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 77. Brieffield Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 78. Brotherhood Mutual Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 79. Centennial Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 80. Centre Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Chubb Group of Insurance Companies, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 82. Church Mutual Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 83. Cincinnati Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Clarendon National Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- CNA Insurance Companies, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;

- 86. Colonial American Casualty & Surety Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 87. Commonwealth Insurance Company of America, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Companion Property and Casualty Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Continental Western Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 90. Coregis Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 91. Crum & Forster Insurance Group, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 92. Cumis Insurance Society, Inc., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Diamond State Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 94. Economy Premier Assurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 95. Electric Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 96. Empire Fire and Marine Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 97. Employers Mutual Casualty Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;

- Equity Mutual Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 99. Everest National Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 100. Factory Mutual Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 101. Farmers and Merchants Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 102. Farmland Mutual Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 103. Federated Mutual Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 104. Federated Service Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Fidelity & Deposit Company of Maryland, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Fidelity National Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 107. Fireman's Fund Insurance Companies, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- First Financial Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 109. First American Property & Casualty Insurance Company, 2005 Member of

Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;

- 110. Florists' Mutual Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Foremost Insurance Company of Grand Rapids, Michigan, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 112. Foremost Property and Casualty Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Foremost Signature Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 114. Frontier Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- GAN North American Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- General Casualty Company of Wisconsin, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 117. General Star National Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 118. Georgia Casualty & Surety Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 119. Government Employees Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 120. Grain Dealers Mutual Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;

- 121. Great American Alliance Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 122. Great American Assurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 123. Great American Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 124. Great American Insurance Company of New York, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 125. Great American Protection Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 126. Great American Security Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 127. Great American Spirit Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 128. Great River Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 129. Greenwich Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 130. Grocers Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Guaranty National Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 132. GuideOne Specialty Mutual Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these

consolidated appeals;

- 133. GuideOne American Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 134. GuideOne Elite Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 135. GuideOne Mutual Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Gulf Insurance Group, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Hanover Insurance Companies, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Harco National Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 139. Hartford Steam Boiler Inspection & Insurance Co., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 140. Horace Mann Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 141. Houston General Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 142. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Insurance Co., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Insurance Corporation of Hannover, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;

- 144. Jefferson Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 145. Jewelers Mutual Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 146. Kemper Auto and Home Group, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 147. Kemper Insurance Companies, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 148. Lafayette Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Legion Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 150. Liberty Mutual Insurance Group, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 151. Liberty Insurance Underwriters, Inc. (Albany), an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Lincoln General Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 153. LM Insurance Companies, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Lumber Mutual Insurance Group, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 155. Lumbermen's Underwriting Alliance, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 156. Markel Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;

- 157. Markel American Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 158. Maryland Casualty Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 159. Merastar Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 160. Metropolitan Casualty Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Metropolitan Direct Property and Casualty Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 162. Metropolitan General Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Metropolitan Group Property and Casualty Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 164. Metropolitan Property and Casualty Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- MGA Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 166. Mid-continent Casualty Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 167. Midwestern Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 168. Millers Mutual Insurance Association, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 169. Millers Mutual Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm

Underwriting Association;

- Millers Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 171. Minnesota Fire & Casualty Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 172. Mississippi Farm Bureau Mutual Ins. Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 173. Mitsui Sumitomo Insurance Co. of America, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Motors Insurance Group, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 175. Mutual Service Casualty Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Mutual Savings Fire Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 177. NAC Reinsurance Corporation, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 178. National Casualty Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 179. National American Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- National Farmers Union Standard Insurance Co., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 181. National General Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm

Underwriting Association;

- National Security Fire & Casualty Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- National Farmers Union Property & Casualty Co., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Nationwide Affinity Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Nationwide Agribusiness Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 186. Nationwide Assurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 187. Nationwide Insurance Company of America, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- Nationwide General Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 189. Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 190. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 191. Nationwide Property and Casualty Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 192. Northern Insurance Company of New York, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 193. North American Specialty Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi

Windstorm Underwriting Association;

- 194. Northland Casualty Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 195. Northland Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 196. Ohio Casualty Group, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 197. Old Republic Minnehoma Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- Old Republic Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 199. Omaha Property and Casualty Insurance Co., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 200. Omega Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 201. OneBeacon American Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 202. OneBeacon Insurance Group, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 203. Peak Property and Casualty Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated appeals;
- 204. Penn Millers Insurance Co., 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 205. Penn-America Insurance Company, 2005 Member of Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association;
- 206. Pennsylvania General Insurance Company, an Interested Party in these consolidated

appeals;

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