IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CC-00076

MISSISSIPPI WINDSTORM UNDERWRITING ASSOCIATION

APPELLANTS

٧.

UNION NATIONAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, UNITED STATES FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, A SUBSIDIARY OF CRUM & FORSTER HOLDING INC., RLI INSURANCE COMPANY, ONEBEACON INSURANCE GROUP, AEGIS SECURITY INSURANCE COMPANY, ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY (FOR ITSELF AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES WHO ARE MEMBERS OF MWUA), HOMESITE INSURANCE COMPANY, FARMER INSURANCE GROUP OF COMPANIES AND ALLSTATE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEE UNITED STATES FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI NO. G-2007-2019 T/1

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

MWUA has argued that it had the discretion to establish a new March 1, 2006 deadline for its members to report voluntary premiums. These letters were sent by regular mail, not by certified mail, and without any other sort of publication. MWUA did not promulgate an amendment to the Plan of Operation or otherwise promulgate a rule. MWUA takes the position that any insurer who failed to file a report by March 1, 2006 forever waived any errors in calculations and any right to appeal. Even assuming that the letter did establish a March 1, 2006 deadline for reporting of voluntary premiums, MWUA did not have the authority to establish a new deadline without properly following the statutory guidelines which require promulgation of a rule or an amendment to the Plan of Operation. And, because MWUA did not publish the letter on its website or promulgate it as a rule, there were no safeguards for making sure all insurers received the letter with the "new deadline." In fact, United States Fire has no record of receiving the letter.

As of May 26, 2006, when United States Fire submitted its voluntary premiums, neither Miss. Code Ann. § 83-34-1, *et seq.*, nor the Plan of Operation provided any such deadline for the receipt of voluntary premium reports. In addition, nothing in the statutes or the Plan of Operation, or in the Manual of Rules and Procedures provides any rules whatsoever on the subject of multiple special assessments, miscalculations, revisions or refunds such as the one that MWUA allowed AIG for its clearly inadvertent mistake. Anyone in the public or any insured member would seek in vain for any guidance under the Plan of Operation for a deadline or procedure for reporting farm property premiums or voluntary premium or for correcting an inadvertent mistake or seeking a refund.

If MWUA seeks to establish new rules governing operations, it was required to do so by published rule approved by the Commissioner. R. Vol. 2 at 103. Miss. Code Ann. § 83-34-29 provides that "[t]he association is **authorized to promulgate rules for the implementation** of this chapter, **subject to the approval of the commissioner**." (emphasis added). The Commissioner expressly recognized that formulation of any new rules must follow this procedure, yet he failed to address the complete absence of any such rules in the Plan of Operation. In fact, the Commissioner cited general rules that mirrored the enabling legislation, but conspicuously absent from this discussion was any time line for reporting and appeals of assessments. As recognized by the Chancery Court on appeal, there were no such published rules in the Plan of Operation approved by the Commissioner specifically covering the time lines for reporting and appeals of any inadvertent errors, as evidenced by the multiple assessments in a single year and huge refunds granted to other members for their inadvertent errors.

Perhaps fatal to MWUA's claims that it could create a new deadline and enforce it against companies who did not follow the secret procedure for reporting farm property premiums or voluntary premiums is that the MWUA board minutes of the January 11, 2006 meeting reflect that MWUA knew there was no deadline for reporting premiums: Greg Copeland, the board attorney, advised that the statutes only address how the assessment is to be calculated without any deadline for reporting appropriate premiums. R. Vol. 43 at 3625, R.E. 95. Even knowing this, MWUA wholly failed to amend its Plan of Operation. Moreover, MWUA also knew (after it received numerous appeals) that there was no appeal deadline. The June 2006 minutes state:

Greg Copeland [attorney for MWUA] suggested establishing a specified time period for companies to appeal or contest their participation percentages in the future.

R. Vol. 43 at 3631.

Finally, MWUA knew that for such a newly adopted deadline to become effective, MWUA would have to amend its Plan of Operation:

This appeal process should also be incorporated into the MWUA Plan of Operation as future changes are submitted.

R. Vol. 43 at 3631.

Notwithstanding the knowledge that there was no deadline for appeal of the participation percentage (or for reporting of voluntary premium or farm property premium), MWUA failed to promulgate a deadline and denied all of the appeals.

As conceded by MWUA at the hearing, corrections and refunds for inadvertent errors had been routinely allowed in the past before Hurricane Katrina. R. Vol. 30 at 33. There were simply no rules promulgated on the subject, approved by the Commissioner, published for comment or finally included in the Plan of Operation. MWUA's director, Albert Parks, confirmed that the letter to its members did not constitute an amendment to the Plan of Operation. By definition, an inadvertent error could not have been discovered by the alleged deadline of March 1, 2006 anyway since it was prior to the calculation and notice of the third assessment. In the absence of any published and approved rules regarding refunds for inadvertent errors and miscalculations by anyone including MWUA, the Chancery Court properly found that denial of United States Fire's appeal and refund was arbitrary and capricious.

The Chancery Court properly held that MWUA exceeded its authority in attempting to establish a March 1, 2006 deadline.

C. United States Fire Timely Appealed.

United States Fire timely appealed the assessment filing its appeal on May 26, 2006. As the Chancery Court found, MWUA has never contended that United States Fire did not timely

appeal. In fact, to the extent MWUA now hints that the appeal was untimely, MWUA has waived any such claim by failing to raise it below.

D. The Chancery Court Properly Held That the Assessments Were Analogous to Taxes, Which Can Be Refunded if Overpaid.

MWUA takes the interesting, but inconsistent, position that once an insurer submits its premium report, if it turns out that the insurer over-reported its premium, then the insurer has no remedy and must forever be barred from submitting corrected information. If, on the other hand, MWUA decides that the insurer has under-reported its premium, then MWUA may force the insurer to resubmit premiums. There is no basis for its second response if the deadline is absolute. Either it applies, or it does not apply.

In all other analogous situations a party may submit corrected information. For instance, if a taxpayer makes an error in reporting his taxes to the extent that he has overpaid taxes, he is permitted a three-year period within which to file an amended return and obtain a refund. This is true for ad valorem taxes, and income taxes. The Chancery Court concluded that the assessments were much like privilege taxes since each of the insurers were required to become members of MWUA as a precondition for doing business in Mississippi. Miss. Code Ann. § 27-73-1 provides that someone who overpays a privilege tax under Mississippi law may obtain a refund:

if any person, firm or corporation has paid, or shall hereafter pay, to the auditor of public accounts, state tax commission of the commissioner of insurance, through error or otherwise, whether paid under protest or not, any ad valorem, privilege or excise tax for which such person, firm or corporation was not liable, or any such taxpayer has paid any tax in excess of the sum properly due and such erroneous payment or overpayment has been paid into the proper treasury the taxpayer shall be entitled to a refund of the taxes so erroneously paid.

Whether or not the assessment constitutes a privilege tax is not the issue here. The issue is whether MWUA can keep an overpayment of assessment while simultaneously claiming that it

may "go after" any insurer it deems has underreported premiums. A taxpayer who has inadvertently made a clerical error which results in an overpayment is entitled to a refund. *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 27-73-1; *see also Barnett v. United States Cas. Co.*, 21 So. 2d 5 (Miss. 1945). So, too, is United States Fire.

E. The Law, Equity And Precedent Require MWUA to Accept United States Fire's Report of Voluntary Premiums and Recalculate Its Assessment.

Section 83-34-13 requires MWUA to devise a Plan of Operation that "shall provide for the efficient, economical, fair and nondiscriminatory administration of the association." A simple principle is at stake here: If a member of MWUA overpays its assessment, then the overpayment must be refunded to the member. This is the law. It is also, fair, equitable and nondiscriminatory. "Whatever the reason, the payment of more than is rightfully due is what characterizes an overpayment," and overpayments must be refunded. *Jones v. Liberty Glass Co.*, 332 U.S. 524, 532, 68 S.Ct. 229, 233 (1947). Even when a taxpayer overpays his taxes, "the taxpayer shall be entitled to a refund of the taxes so erroneously paid." Miss. Code Ann. § 27-73-1.

In this case, United States Fire has been overassessed because it was not afforded credit for its voluntary premiums. The so-called "rules" for the reporting of voluntary premiums were unpublished and unavailable. The rules and deadline for reporting are required to be in the Plan of Operation or otherwise promulgated rule to avoid this very scenario. Both the law and elementary justice require affirming the Chancery Court Order.

Throughout its brief, MWUA argues that the Appellee companies, including United States Fire, are trying unfairly to pay less than they were assessed. However, MWUA does not dispute that United States Fire is statutorily entitled to a credit for voluntary premiums in calculating its assessment. The Mississippi Legislature clearly thought that such credit is fair when it mandated the credit. The Mississippi Legislature designed a mechanism to reward insurers who wrote policies in the coastal areas to encourage insurers to write coastal business. In fact, the insurers who wrote policies in the coastal counties had exposure for direct losses suffered by their own insured. Each claim paid by an insurer is a claim that MWUA would have had to pay but for the insurer who assumed that policy. Hence, it is only fair that these companies receive credit for the premiums on those policies.

Instead of recognizing that United States Fire and the other insurers are legitimately entitled to exclude certain premiums from consideration in the assessment, MWUA acts as though the Appellees are surreptitiously trying to avoid a payment - - to the contrary, the other member insurers of MWUA have received a benefit to which they are <u>not</u> statutorily entitled. The other insurers have actually received a windfall based on MWUA's failure to provide reporting forms with blanks for voluntary premiums and from MWUA's failure to have any reporting and deadline requirements in its Plan of Operation or promulgated rules.

Moreover, it is not unfair to other members of MWUA to require MWUA to accept the corrected reports of insurers like United States Fire, who were entitled by statute to receive credit for voluntary premiums. The other members will simply be allocated the percentage of MWUA's expenses that they actually owe. If MWUA is permitted to deny the voluntary credits, the other insurers will pay less than they owe under the statutes and the Appellee insurers will pay more than they owe. The other insurers will, in effect, receive a windfall that they are not entitled to under the Mississippi statutes while the Appellee insurers will pay more than the statutory scheme dictates.

F. Statute of Limitations Provides Finality.

MWUA argues that if it allows the corrected report, there will never be finality. MWUA's counsel Greg Copeland stated in his July 27, 2006 letter denying United States Fire's

appeal that "to accept corrections now would make the resolution and letters meaningless and would leave the 2004 data open forever." R. Vol. 50 at 279. This is simply not the case.

The MWUA governing statutes provide member insurers who may be aggrieved by an act, ruling or decision of MWUA the opportunity to appeal to the Commissioner. *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 83-34-19. At most, Mississippi's general three-year statute of limitations likely would apply to any such appeals. *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49 (1999). While this may not provide the swiftness of finality desired by MWUA, it may provide finality in any event.

G. There is Finality in This Case Because of the Res Judicata Effect of These Appeals.

In the Union National appeal, the Court was set to hear argument on the appeal, and

MWUA filed a Motion for Joinder of all of its members. As a result of that motion, the Court

entered into an Agreed Order which provided that:

This Court finds that it is equitable, reasonable, and appropriate to consolidate all appeals and also allow any interested member company to join in this action. Consolidation and joinder will allow those interested member companies that elect to do so to present their own positions. Consolidation and joinder will avoid the possibility of repeated re-assessments, potential appeals and the potential for inconsistent results.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED:

A. The time provided by § 83-34-19 of the Mississippi Code and the Plan of Operations to appeal MWUA's actions in determining the percentages of participation for Hurricane Katrina has expired. No member company that has not previously filed a timely appeal can now appeal the determination of percentages of participation by the MWUA or raise new issues in this action.

Joinder of All Member Companies

B. MWUA is directed to serve summons within thirty (30) days of the entry of this Order in the form attached to this Order as Exhibit A on each member company not presently a party in this action. MWUA must attach to such summons a copy of this Order.

C. Any member company that desires to participate in this action must enter an appearance as an "Interested Party"

within forty-five (45) days of service of the summons by filing a written appearance with the clerk in the form attached to the summons, which is Exhibit A to this Order, with copies to the counsel for the original parties.

R. Vol. 19 at 2636-2637.

Then, the Summons sent to all member insurers stated:

By this SUMMONS, you are required within forty-five (45) days of receipt of this Summons to notify the Court and the original parties whether or not your company wishes to participate in these appeals. Notification shall be made in the form attached to these summons (Entry of Appearance as an Interested Party). WHETHER OR NOT YOU RESOND, YOU WILL BE BOUND BY THE RESULTS OF ANY ORDERS OF THE TRIAL AND/OR APPELLATE COURTS CONCERNING THE MWUA ASSESSMENTS FOR HURRICANE KATRINA. YOU WILL REQUIRED ТО PAY OR RECEIVE ANY BE REASSESSMENT OR REFUND ORDERED BY THE COURT WITHOUT ANY RIGHT OF **FURTHER RECOURSE.**

R. Vol. 19 at 2643.

At the hearing to obtain this subpoena, held on April 29, 2008, MWUA argued that they wanted all of its member insurer companies subpoenaed so that they could later say "this is your shot and I don't want to hear from you later. This is your res judicata right now. Get in or not." R. Supp. Vol. I, Tr. p. 15. MWUA recognized at that point that the subpoena would cure any problems with subsequent appeals from this Court's decision: "Having gotten that [the subpoena] - that way they won't ever later be able to complain." R. Supp Vol. I, Tr. p. 36. All of MWUA member companies were subpoenaed. *See* R. Vol. 1 at 3-15 for a listing of all summonses and returns. Each one had an opportunity to appear and be heard. The only member company other than the eight Appellee insurers who made any argument before the Chancery Court was Hartford Insurance & Indemnity Company. Only Hartford arguably has the right to act in any sort of appellant capacity. All of the other insurance companies are bound by the

ruling of the Chancery Court, and subsequently by the ruling of this Court, under the general rules of res judicata.

Moreover, this Court should not hear any arguments from any member insurer in amicus briefs. Each had the opportunity to state its positions at the Chancery Court level, and having waived that right, none of the companies other than MWUA and arguably Hartford may attempt to overrule the Chancery Court because they took no position whatever in the Chancery Court proceeding. It is axiomatic that a party cannot put a Chancery Court or any other court in error based on any argument they failed to make below. Here, having not appeared, the parties simply have waived their right to complain about the Chancery Court Order.

CONCLUSION

The Chancery Court correctly ruled that United States Fire is entitled to submit its voluntary premiums and that MWUA must recalculate the participation percentages for the Hurricane Katrina assessments after the Appellees have resubmitted the premium information. United States Fire is entitled to a refund of all amounts paid and a ruling that it has no further assessments for Hurricane Katrina-related claims. The decision of the Chancery Court must be affirmed.